
Date Published: 15 May 2019     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 23 May 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

STANDING ITEMS

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  Academy Schools in Gloucestershire - The  Role of the Regional 
Schools Commissioner (RSC) 

The Deputy Director Regional Schools Commissioners – South West will be 
in attendance to discuss the role of the RSC and to discuss what the RSC is 
doing to support improvement in Gloucestershire’s Academy Schools.

Information on Regional Schools Commissioners is available at this link 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-
group/about. 

Cllr Brian 
Robinson

5  Care Leavers (Pages 7 - 20)

1. To receive an update on the Care Leaver Offer.

2. The Audit and Governance Committee received the Internal Audit 
Activity Progress Report 2018/19 at its meeting on 25 April 2019. The 
committee agreed to refer the section on the Youth Service Leaving Care 
Service to the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee for information and 
discussion.  

Mark Bone

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group/about


    

WORK PROGRAMME

6  Work Programme (Pages 21 - 24)

The committee will discuss the work plan at the close of the main meeting.

Cllr Brian 
Robinson

Membership – Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman) and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector 
Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 7 March 2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Charlotte Blanch
Dr Richard Castle
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman)
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Substitutes: Cllr Suzanne Williams (In place of Cllr Chris Coleman)

Officers in attendance: Rob England - Head of Quality & Safeguarding (Children & Young 
People)
Suzanne Hall - Finance Business Partner
Julie Rzezniczek - Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care
Chris Spencer - Director of Children's Services
Wendy Williams - Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning 

Apologies: Cllr Chris Coleman, Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

9. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Cllr Brian Robinson declared a personal interest as a Foster Carer. 

Cllr Shaun Parsons declared a personal interest as a trustee of the National Star College.

10. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2019 were agreed as a correct record 
subject to the following amendment: -
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member Children and Young People had sent his apologies. 

The committee was informed that the added members on the committee had not received 
the invitation to attend which was why they were absent. The Senior Democratic Services 
Adviser in attendance offered their apologies.

11. OFSTED OUTCOME LETTER 
11.1 The Director of Children Services (DCS) informed the committee that this monitoring visit 

had been the fifth of six visits by Ofsted and that the council could expect a full inspection 
in the Autumn. He also explained that if it was felt necessary the council could negotiate for 
an additional monitoring visit ahead of the inspection. The next monitoring visit was 
scheduled for 30 April 2019. 

11.2 The DCS drew committee member’s attention to Ofsted’s comments relating to the level of 
churn in the social worker workforce, the negative impact that this was having on the 
consistency and quality of practice, and that the council was making insufficient progress in 
improving services for its children. It was noted that these comments were in line with 
concerns raised by committee members.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

11.3 In response to questions the DCS indicated that he felt that whilst progress had flat lined 
for the first 12 months post inspection it was now picking up, and explained that the Ofsted 
process looked at the whole improvement journey and was why this improvement was not 
reflected in the letter. 

11.4 Members agreed with the DCS that stabilising the workforce was the key factor going 
forward. The DCS outlined the activity in place to improve this position, including the Social 
Worker Academy, the recruitment of social workers from India and the agreed (by Cabinet) 
increase in the number of ASYEs (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment). 

11.5 In response to questions the DCS explained that the main issue in retaining staff was 
instability within teams; the level of churn meant that it was hard for people to receive the 
level of support and supervision that they needed to prosper in the role. 

11.6 Members were concerned about the impact of multiple changes in social worker on the 
individual child/young person. The DCS informed the committee that Ofsted saw this as a 
real weakness in practice which reinforced the need to stabilise the workforce. Members 
were concerned as to how trust could be maintained between the child/young person and 
the social worker in these circumstances. The DCS informed the meeting that it was 
important for the social worker to be honest and upfront with the child/young person and 
properly manage expectations. The Chairman, who had declared an interest as a foster 
carer, stated that in his experience what these children wanted was consistency, what was 
said would happen happens – it wasn’t necessarily about who came through the door, but 
have you delivered what you said you would?  

11.7 In response to a question it was explained that the caseload level was not yet where the 
DCS would wish it to be. 

11.8 He reiterated that sufficient resources were available – what was required was to stabilise 
the workforce.

11.9 The committee was informed that it was expected that the next Ofsted monitoring visit 
would focus on the areas of weakness identified at the time of the inspection eg. the MASH 
(Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub).

12. IMPROVEMENT BOARD UPDATE 
12.1 The DCS informed the committee that the Improvement Board had agreed an accelerated 

improvement plan in response to the weaknesses identified in the February 2019 Ofsted 
letter. This plan identified 4 key achievements: 
 Quality of practice 
 Training of social workers and management development 
 Supervision and management oversight 
 Timeliness of visits 

12.2 The committee asked about the decision to bring the Prospects Service back in house. The 
DCS reminded members that this service had received a requires improvement rating from 
Ofsted. Whilst the service sat outside the council he did not have a clear line of oversight 
and essentially could not best manage what he could not clearly see. He wanted to get a 
better managerial grasp back on these services, in particular to continue to try and get 
underneath the high number of referrals for high cost placements. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

12.3 It was questioned why supervision continued to be an issue. The DCS felt that the service 
was still dealing with legacy issues, specifically that supervision was not being measured. 
He felt that there remained some cultural issues in this regard. Ofsted continually raised 
this matter and it was important going forward that the impact of supervision, both on the 
social worker and thence on the child/young person could be evidenced.

12.4 The importance of being clear and honest with children so that expectations were properly 
managed was reiterated by committee members. It was suggested that schools were not 
fully engaged in the social care agenda as evidenced by the high number of school 
exclusions in the county. It was acknowledged that schools were in a very challenging 
position but that they could not abrogate responsibility for the children in their care; and 
should be offering more with regard to early help. However, it was acknowledged that this 
was a joint agenda that we needed to work through together, and that the Improvement 
Board had a clear responsibility here to ensure that all partners were ‘on the same page’.

13. QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK: PROGRESS UPDATE REPORT 
13.1 The committee agreed that whilst there was evidence of some improvement in this 

process, it was of concern that the number of outstanding actions remained high, and that 
there was a lack of consistency in the risk assessments. Members were concerned that this 
meant that there was not an overall buy in to this process. 

13.2 The committee was assured that these outstanding actions did not mean that children were 
in unsafe circumstances. It was more likely that this related to the level of churn and that 
there was again some cultural factors involved. It also related to managers not tracking 
actions on a daily basis; managers were being supported to better manage these actions. 
However, it was stated that it was important to remember that managers were being asked 
to do a lot and we were asking them to work over fifty hours per week. The DCS 
acknowledged that there did appear to be a stubborn ‘underbelly’ of improvement. He did 
however state that it was important to note that there has been an improvement in the 
number of cases rated good. 

13.3 It was discussed whether the level of churn in the workforce was the main impact on the 
audits, or whether the main impact was on the follow through of the actions. 

13.4 It was noted that the main themes coming through the quality and audit process matched 
those identified by Ofsted. This indicated that we had a clear understanding of the areas 
that still required improvement. In response to a question it was explained that work was 
ongoing with all teams to ensure that they were aware of this position and what it meant for 
them. Electronic message boards were being installed in the localities so that staff could 
receive real time information.

13.5 The committee was informed that the greatest challenges were in the safeguarding teams. 
It was important to note that these teams dealt with the most complex cases, had the 
widest span of work, and the most inexperienced and transient workforce. It was explained 
that whilst we could not change the workforce structure at present as the council needed to 
manage the Ofsted process, the DCS was talking to teams about options. A committee 
member stated that it should not be a surprise that there were challenges in the 
safeguarding teams; this was where the most stressful work took place. They emphasised 
the importance of ensuring that there was sufficient support for staff mental health and 
wellbeing. 

13.6 Committee members remained frustrated that in some areas progress seemed to be stalled 
and some members felt that there was a void between the child and the process. The DCS 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

shared the committee’s frustration, but reiterated that this was always going to be a two to 
three year turnaround; that this was a business that had thought it was good and then 
discovered that it was not. He was clear that the council was in a better position than at the 
time of the Ofsted inspection. As already stated the overriding issue was to stabilise the 
workforce. 

13.7 The DCS informed the committee that the Head of Human Resources was leading on the 
work to address the cultural issues.

14. SCHOOL OFF ROLLING INFORMATION 
14.1 The committee agreed to consider school off-rolling and the Permanent Exclusions Task 

Group update together as they were interlinked. The committee received a detailed 
presentation from the Head of Services for Children with Additional Needs. (The report and 
presentation slides were included in the agenda pack.)

14.2 The committee was informed that the number of permanent exclusions had levelled out 
since the significant increase between 2013 and 2016, but was still too high. In 2017/18 
there were 3 secondary schools responsible for almost a quarter of the exclusions. These 
schools were Cheltenham Bournside School, Gloucester Academy and Beaufort School 
(Gloucester) The number of children in Gloucestershire home educated had been rising, 
although the number of new children has started to decline slightly. In general, the number 
of children home educated increased with the age of the child, with over a quarter of newly 
home educated children being in KS4. It was important to remember that parents did not 
have to inform the local authority that they were home educating their child; this made both 
the local and national picture unclear. 

14.3 With regard to off rolling the committee was informed that Ofsted particularly focussed on 
years 5 and 6 and 10 and 11 as these were examination years for children. The 
presentation focused on KS4 (years 10 and 11) as it was known that there were more 
challenges in the secondary sector. Between 2016 and 2017 184 year 10 and 11 children 
left school; this equated to 43% of all children leaving secondary school, and a higher 
proportion were vulnerable children (this reflected the national position).

14.4 The committee was informed that the number of children leaving school in years 10 and 11 
varied between districts from over a half of children in the Forest of Dean to a third in the 
Cotswolds. It was clear that there was work required to understand this position. The 
presentation showed that that the majority of secondary schools had lost at least one pupil, 
with 16 losing more than 5, and 7 with much higher levels. Ofsted had identified the 3 
schools that had much higher levels than others over a two year period. Council officers 
have visited these schools to discuss the data and context and this will also be picked up 
by Ofsted as part of the inspection regime. These schools were Barnwood Park 
(Gloucester), Tewkesbury School and All Saints Academy (Cheltenham).  In response to 
questions it was acknowledged that there were particular challenges in Gloucester. 

14.5 It was hoped that the Department of Education Review of School Exclusions Chaired by 
Edward Timpson would offer helpful insights/advice and robust recommendations to 
government. The report was expected to be published April 2019. It was clear that off 
rolling was a complex issue and the Director of Education recommended a report from the 
ISOS Partnership/LGA which discussed whether the system had reached the tipping point 
with regard to spend on children with complex needs, and included detailed discussion on 
off rolling. (For information the report was available at this link 
http://www.isospartnership.com/publications.html.)  

Page 4

http://www.isospartnership.com/publications.html


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

14.6 The Head of Services for Children with Additional Needs informed the committee of the 
work in place in Gloucestershire which aimed to reduce the number of exclusions and off 
rolling. This included Restorative Practice and the development of local inclusion clusters. 
The committee was pleased to note that 61 exclusions had been mitigated since January 
2017. 

14.7 In response to questions it was stated that it was known that social deprivation does 
influence permanent exclusions and that traditionally data has been based on the school. 
However members were informed that officers were now looking at tracking exclusions by 
the child’s place of residence. 

14.8 The committee was reminded that the Cabinet had agreed additional funding for 
Restorative Practice (RP). The committee was informed that the mental health trailblazer 
programme was being linked into restorative practice, with some trailblazer staff being 
trained in RP. The Adverse Childhood Experiences Panel (ACEs) now had an education 
subgroup looking at these issues as well. 

14.9 The Permanent Exclusions Task Group had recommended that schools be encouraged to 
take up the option of RP and there was some frustration at the number of schools that had 
signed up. However members were reminded that this was intense work that required a lot 
of school resources, and took time to embed. It was important that schools be in a position 
where they felt able to commit fully to this programme of work. The Clifton Diocese 
representative on the committee informed members that her school was taking forward RP 
and explained the intensity of the work involved.  She also informed members that she was 
on the ACEs education sub group.

14.10 It was questioned whether officers interviewed parents who had removed their child from 
school to try and get underneath the issues. However, members were reminded that 
parents were not required to inform the local authority. Where the council did know about 
pupils home educated parents were offered support; the council was responsible for those 
children identified as missing education.

14.11 The School Exclusions Review led by Edward Timpson was due to be published this year 
and the committee would want to understand the implications of this report for 
Gloucestershire.

15. UPDATE ON THE PERMANENT EXCLUSIONS TASK GROUP REPORT 
Please see minute 14.

16. CHILDREN'S CENTRES - A POSITION STATEMENT 
16.1 The Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families Commissioning informed the 

committee that this was the first report following the redesign of Children’s Centres. There 
had been some delay to this report due to data not being collected as expected. The 
redesign had been about a more targeted approach to supporting children and families. 
The redesign also met the needs of the Families First agenda. The committee was 
informed that all targets had been exceeded. 

16.2 It was questioned whether the targets had been set too low as they had all been met. It 
was explained that in the redesign of the service it had not been known exactly what the 
need would be, and the level of referrals had been higher than expected but that the 
service had been able to keep up with demand. In setting targets data previously identified 
had been used. Stretch targets could be included if required. Members were assured that 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

children on a protection plan were a priority and the contract had been configured to reflect 
this. It was also explained that the contract was based on an outcome model approach. 

16.3 ICT specialist support was required to embed the data system into the process. This has 
been purchased but not implemented due to lack of resources (staff availability). 

16.4 It was agreed that committee members would visit the children’s centre in their division. 
The committee would also receive a further broader report on this matter later in the year 
following on from the planned review.

17. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
17.1 The Director of Safeguarding and Care informed the committee that there had been 

improvement in some areas including those relating to timeliness, although the high 
number of re-referrals remained a concern. The number of children subject to a section 20 
order would suggest that we were not making permanent arrangements quickly enough. 
Pressures remained regarding the number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan 
although the spike in numbers over the last year had been steadily reducing. 

17.2 In response to a question committee members were updated with the current position 
regarding the new adoption arrangements delivered through Adoption West. 

17.3 Members remained concerned with the data relating to some of the schools in 
Gloucestershire which indicated that many pupils were being let down. The committee 
would be able to discuss these with the Deputy Regional Schools Commissioner when they 
attend the committee’s May 2019 meeting.

18. REVENUE MONITORING 
18.1 The Finance Business Partner updated the committee on the revenue budget position as at 

December 2018. The current forecast for non-DSG funded services was an over-spend 
position of £7.97 million (7.5% of budget). The underlying over-spend was £10.57 million, 
£6.23 million being external placement costs, which reduced to £7.97 million when offset by 
£2.6 million of Business Rates Retention pilot income. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
funded services were forecast to be over-spent by £5.7 million in-year. The announcement 
in December 2018 by the DFE of additional funds to support children with special 
educational needs had reduced the over-spend by £1.35 million and balances brought 
forward of £2.3 million reduced the net over-spend to £2.05 million against the ring-fenced 
grant.  

  
18.2 In response to questions the Finance Business Partner and Director of Children’s Services 

went through the actions in place to address and manage this process. In particular that 
costs relating to external placements would only be reduced once  we have developed the 
local market; and agency costs would not reduce until the workforce had been stabilised.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 1.10 pm

Page 6



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Thursday 23 May 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Care Leavers Offer

Author – Mark Bone 14th May 2019

Background

Through the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the Government introduced the 
requirement for local authorities to publish a ‘Care Leaver Offer’ which outlines the 
services for care leavers available within the local authority area. 
 
The Act received Royal Assent, becoming law on 27th April 2017.  The local authority 
was required to publish its local offer by December 2018.  The local offer should 
provide information about all the services and support that is available to care 
leavers, including information about their statutory entitlements as well as any 
discretionary support a local authority chooses to provide. Services relating to the 
following should be covered:

 Health and well-being
 Relationships
 Education and training
 Employment
 Accommodation
 Participation in society

A care leaver’s strategic group was formed to oversee the development and 
publicise Gloucestershire’s local offer for care leavers. 

Care 
Leavers 
Strategic 
Group

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Current Position

Gloucestershire’s local offer for care leavers was published and launched at a care 
leaver’s celebration event in October 2018 during care leaver’s week.  The 
development of the offer was supported by:

 Care leavers participation group
 Care experienced ambassadors
 Partners from District Councils, Housing services and Health services.
 Children’s commissioning services
 Corporate Parenting Board
 Cabinet champion for care leavers
 Staff and managers from Gloucestershire Leaving Care Service (11+ 

Service)
 National Young People’s Benchmarking Forum hosted in Cheltenham by 

Gloucestershire ambassadors

Supporting information to help inform the local offer was accessed from the 
following:

 BrightSpots survey completed in March 2018, 30% of Gloucestershire care 
leavers completed the survey

 ‘Care leavers views on their transition to adulthood’ a rapid review of around 
80 studies that explored care leavers experiences and feelings conducted by 
Bristol University and Coram Voice.

The local offer is accessible via GCC website 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-
and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/ and is now available in 5 other languages to 
reflect our cohort of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).  There is 
also an easy to read care leavers offer summary available.  We have also published 
copies of the local offer to distribute to care leavers and have these accessible in all 
of our offices. 

Following the publication of Gloucestershire’s local offer the following services have 
now been added to the offer:

 Financially supporting care leavers who take up apprenticeships to ensure 
they receive the equivalent of the minimum wage linked to their age.  (This 
has now been completed and implemented in December 2018)

 Council Tax Exemption, work with the six district councils to offer care leavers 
up to the age of 21 exemptions from council tax.  (This has been completed 
and implemented in April 2019)

Work has continued with young people and partner agencies to develop the local 
offer currently the following is being developed: 

 Leisure offer work continues to agree with six district councils and leisure 
providers what offer we can give to care leavers.

Page 8

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/


 Housing offer, work to look at preventing need for homeless applications, 
alternatives to the use of Bed & Breakfast, better access to independent 
accommodation and privately rented accommodation.

 Development of a mentoring scheme, to enhance current Peer Mentoring 
project and develop an offer where care leavers can be matched with a range 
of mentors including education mentors and business mentors.

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                     Extract from the Internal Audit Activity 
           Progress Report 2018/19

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period January to March 2019

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Youth Service - Care Leaving Service

Background

A care leaver is defined as a person aged between 16 and 25, who has been looked after by a local 
authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 and who was looked after by the local authority at 
school-leaving age or after that date. Such care could be in foster care, residential care (mainly 
children’s homes), or other arrangements outside the immediate or extended family.

The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 specify that a Pathway Plan must be prepared as soon 
as possible after the assessment of needs and must be recorded in writing.  The local authority must 
review the Pathway Plan at least every six months and any changes must be recorded in writing.

Scope

This audit reviewed a sample of care leavers to ensure that plans are in place, that they have a clear 
pathway mapped out and that the plans are being reviewed and amended as necessary.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings

A sample of 24 care leavers (7% of the population as at 25/09/2018) was randomly selected for 
testing and the records for each were reviewed in LiquidLogic (Children’s Case Management 
System).  The results were varied and contained the following anomalies: 

 The care leaver was over 25 and their case should have been closed:    1
 Pathway Plans overdue:    2
 Pathway Plan sign-off dated as prior years:    3
 Review Involvement Forms incomplete:    2
 Summary page on LiquidLogic not updated:    13

As part of the audit scope, the auditor conducted 1:1 meetings with two care leavers who are 
employed by the council as ambassadors on zero hours contracts.  General feedback from those 
meetings was included in the audit report and the specific issues have been reported separately to 
the Director of Children’s Services for appropriate action to be taken.

The service has taken part in and utilised the outputs from a survey of care leavers across the South 
West, entitled ‘Bright Spots’, which was undertaken by the Coram Voice charity and Bristol 
University in March 2018.  Further surveys are to be conducted annually in order to compile 
benchmarking data and trend analysis. The survey was confidential, meaning the leaving care service 
received a summary of generalised comments from care leavers in Gloucestershire on topics, rather 

Page 11



                                                                                     Extract from the Internal Audit Activity 
           Progress Report 2018/19

than from individual care leavers.  Despite this, the service has nevertheless been able to utilise the 
outcomes of the survey as part of Pathway Planning with care leavers and produce a programme of 
actions and commitments for improving the service they provide for care leavers, children and 
young people.

Conclusion

The service is endeavouring to provide as much support to care leavers as possible by producing 
Pathway Plans that are relevant and tailored to care leaver needs.  However, the testing of a random 
sample of care leavers found that, in some cases, the record-keeping in LiquidLogic has not been 
robust.  Whilst that is partly due to the logistics and levels of training to fully utilise the benefits of 
such a system, there were also clear oversights and delays in Pathway Planning.  These gaps were 
corrected after being identified as part of the audit.

The 2018 Bright Spots survey provided feedback from care leavers and this identified that there 
were some topic areas where the care leavers are not receiving the help they need.  An action plan 
has been created to ensure that as many of the issues raised are alleviated as soon as possible.

A positive development is that all leaving care workers now have smart phones and laptops that, 
amongst other things, will make it easier for them to update LiquidLogic following meetings with, or 
information received from, the care leavers.

Management Actions

Three high priority recommendations were raised within the report – focusing on staff training, 
regular monitoring by management (including consideration of business continuity arrangements for 
staff turnover) and appropriate management, monitoring and report to senior management of the 
Bright Spots commitments to ensure action progression. Management have responded positively to 
the recommendations made within the report.

Page 12



Progress Report on Care Leavers Internal Audit Recommendations:

Date: 10th May 2019

Author: Mark Bone

Background:
A care leaver is defined as a person aged between 16 and 25, who has been looked after by 
a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 and who was looked after by the 
local authority at school-leaving age or after that date. Such care could be in foster care, 
residential care or other arrangements outside the immediate or extended family.
An internal audit was undertaken regarding the work being completed with care leavers within 
Gloucestershire. The audit reviewed a sample of care leavers to ensure that pathway plans 
were in place that are being regularly reviewed and amended.

Findings:
Extract from the Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2018/19
“The service is endeavouring to provide as much support to care leavers as possible by 
producing Pathway Plans that are relevant and tailored to care leaver needs.  However, the 
testing of a random sample of care leavers found that, in some cases, the record-keeping in 
Liquid Logic has not been robust.  Whilst that is partly due to the logistics and levels of training 
to fully utilise the benefits of such a system, there were also clear oversights and delays in 
Pathway Planning.  These gaps were corrected after being identified as part of the audit.”

Actions Taken:
As a result of the audit findings a robust action plan was developed (see appendix 1). The 
report was designed to address issues raised. 
This report gives an update on progress against the report and the subsequent action plan.

Issues Identified:

1. Inconsistent levels of information being recorded on Liquid Logic

Actions:
a. Up to date training regarding LL to be provided to the Leaving Care workers
b. A bespoke training package for Leaving Care workers to be developed and delivered 

which mirrors the essential training provided by GCC to social workers
Update:

a. Liquid Logic support has been provided to individuals who have been identified through 
supervision and dip sampling as needing additional support.

b. A training course mirroring the essentials training programme for Social Workers was 
developed. At the time of writing, three of the four sessions have been delivered with 
the workers feeding back that they have found the training useful. Issues identified 
during the training by practitioners and trainers have been passed back to the Head 
of Service in order that they can be addressed, discussed and solutions found.

Page 13



Evidence of Impact:
a. There is improved evidence of input and recording. This is shown through monthly 

data reports, audits, dip sampling and supervision reflection.

2. Cases closed within appropriate timescales

Actions:
a. A bespoke training package for Leaving Care workers to be developed and delivered 

which mirrors the essential training provided by GCC to social workers
b. Team Managers to proactively check cases are closed within supervision sessions.

Update:
a. As above the training is being delivered currently
b. Team Managers are regularly checking in supervisions that cases are being 

appropriately closed
Evidence of Impact:

a. Dip samples are showing that the timeliness of closure is improving. In addition, 
supervision notes are detailing discussions around this.

3. Completion of Review Involvement forms

Actions:
a. Up to date training regarding LL to be provided to the Leaving Care workers
b. Team Managers checking completion in supervision sessions

Update:
a. As previously mentioned, the training has been developed and is being delivered
b. Team Managers are checking that completion has taken place during supervision 

sessions and are noting this in the supervision notes
Evidence of Impact:

a. The training is impacting on practice as evidenced through supervision, care file audits 
and performance surgeries

b. Completion of review involvement forms is improving as evidenced through dip 
samples and case file audits

4. All Care Leavers to have in date Pathway Plans which are signed by both parties

Actions:
a. Track pathway plan completion through performance surgeries
b. TM’s to track that the plans are signed by both parties

Update:
a. The 11-25 permanency team’s performance surgeries have highlighted pathway plan 

completion on a regular basis and tasks are set for individuals to improve if problems 
are identified

b. Supervision sessions and case file audits check that the plans are being signed by both 
parties

Evidence of Impact:
a. In March 2019 pathway plan completion within the 11-25 permanency teams was 90% 
b. TM’s are reporting that a higher number of plans are being signed and that 

practitioners are being set time scales when they are not 

Page 14



5. Brightspots feedback proactively acted upon by Senior Management

Actions:
a. Bespoke training package for leaving care workers
b. Develop of Pathway planning practice standards
c. Implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy
d. Development of a Care Leavers Protocol with the six District Councils in Gloucestershire
e. Social Workers and Leaving Care Workers develop a one page profile
f. Clear communication with Care Leavers and encouragement to use MOMO to share 

their comments and views
Update:

a. Training underway
b. Pathway planning practice standards have been developed and now need to be rolled 

out to staff.
c. The Sufficiency Strategy has been formally signed off and plans for its implementation 

are underway. This is a complex strategy with many strands and will take time to come 
to fruition 

d. HOS is working with colleagues from district councils to develop a joint protocol for 
care leavers to look at better access to accommodation, development of alternative 
provision to avoid the use of Bed and Breakfast and prevent the need for homeless 
applications.  We have had 3 meetings to date to agree representation and work on 
the framework we wish to populate.

e. One page profiles for all workers within the YST were introduced in 2018 (see appendix 
2). These are used to introduce new workers and to begin the process of building 
relationships with young people, setting out expectations of both parties etc. 

f. Posters and information regarding Mind of My Own are clearly displayed in all offices 
where Care Leavers visit. In addition, staff have been reminded to encourage 
engagement in its use

Evidence of Impact:
Pathway planning practice standards have been completed but now need to be rolled out to 
staff before we will be able to evidence impact.
Housing leads from the district councils are fully committed to developing a joint protocol for 
care leavers this is having the impact of strengthening our partnership work.  Consideration 
is also now being given regarding other ways district councils can be more involved in 
supporting care leavers.
Feedback received via Mind of My Own stated that young people found them valuable. The 
below is the quote received.
I have received a new social worker for this month: until it’s my 18th birthday which
is in under 3 weeks. Even though I haven’t met my new social worker she’s send me
her own version of my life my plan... this for me is such a positive move after not
having the best experience with previous social worker. I’ve found out what Megan
like to do and what she dislikes. This for me is a good start on what a social worker
looks like! I wish every social worker done this before!!

Conclusion:
Improvements are evident in dip samples and case file audits. The development and delivery 
of the training programme has been well received by practitioners and they report it is having 

Page 15



an impact on practice, this is mirrored through supervision discussions and case file audits. 
Monthly data shows improving figures in terms of pathway plan completion.
There are however still improvements to be made and the momentum that is underway will 
be continued. The training programme has identified other areas which the leaving care 
workers would appreciate further training in. Discussions with other teams within the YST who 
also provide support to Care Leavers including the wrap-around team have identified 
challenges around availability of placements, financial issues particularly for young people in 
supported living arrangements and timely mental health support. This all impacts on the 
pathway planning and reviewing process.

Page 16



Care Leaving Service Action Plan:
Date: February 2019

Introduction:

In January 2019 Gloucestershire County Council completed an internal audit report detailing recommended actions to address areas where performance 
could be improved. The below action plan is in response to those recommendations.

Issue: Action to address: By when: By Whom: Evidence of success:

Inconsistent levels of 
information being recorded 
on Liquid Logic

1. Up to date training regarding LL to be 
provided to the Leaving Care workers

2. A bespoke training package for Leaving Care 
workers to be developed and delivered 
which mirrors the essential training provided 
by GCC to social workers

2.first session 
to commence 
in March 2019

2.Fiona Walker 
and Jane Willet- 
training and 
development 
team Prospects

Improved consistency of 
input as evidenced through 
audits and dip sampling

Cases closed within 
appropriate timescales

1. A bespoke training package for Leaving Care 
workers to be developed and delivered 
which mirrors the essential training provided 
by GCC to social workers

2. Team Managers to proactively check cases 
are closed within supervision sessions.

1.first session 
to commence 
in March 2019

2.Immediately

1.Fiona Walker 
and Jane Willet- 
training and 
development 
team Prospects
2.By TM’s 
overseen by HOS

Dip sample identifies 
timeliness of case closure

Completion of Review 
Involvement forms

1. Up to date training regarding LL to be 
provided to the Leaving Care workers

2. Team Managers checking completion in 
supervision sessions

1.First session 
to commence 
March 2019
2. Immediately

1.Fiona Walker 
and Jane Willet
2.TM’s overseen 
by HOS

Improved consistency of 
input as evidenced through 
audits and dip sampling

All Care Leavers to have in 
date Pathway Plans which 
are signed by both parties

1. Track pathway plan completion through 
performance surgeries

2. TM’s to track that the plans are signed by 
both parties

1.Immediately 

2.Immediately

1.Mark Bone and 
Vicki Butkler
2.TM’s

Improved data for up to 
date Pathway plans
Dip sample evidences 
increase in pathway Plans 

P
age 17



signed by both parties

1. Bespoke training package for leaving care 
workers

1.First session 
to commence 
March 2019

1. Fiona Walker 
and Jane Willet

Dip sample evidences 
improved young person 
involvement in Pathway 
planning

2. Develop of Pathway planning practice 
standards

2.April 2019 2.Jane Willet Practice standards in place

3. Implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy 3.April 2019 3.GCC 
commissioning 
team

Increased availability of 
accommodation options for 
care leavers

4. Development of a Care Leavers Protocol with 
the six District Councils in Gloucestershire

4.September 
2019

4. Mark Bone Joint protocol on working 
together to support care 
leavers signed by DCS and 
Chief Executives.

5. Social Workers and Leaving Care Workers 
develop a one page profile about

5.This has 
been in place 
since 
September 
2018

5.Kat Aukett Young People’s feedback 
process demonstrates a 
positive introduction to 
young people (this was 
already the case as a 
positive comment was made 
on MOMO about this)

Brightspots feedback 
proactively acted upon by 
Senior Management

6. Clear communication with Care Leavers and 
encouragement to use MOMO to share their 
comments and views

6.Immediately 6.TM’s, SW’s and 
LCW’s

Young People’s feedback 
demonstrates positive 
comments

P
age 18



My One Page Profile 

Your Name: Kat Aukett

Job: Operations Director, YST, Glos

What is important to me:

My family and my dog and my work as I really like to 
help people. Keeping fit is also important to me as I feel 
better when I exercise!  

What I like doing:

I like watching movies and reading. I like walking the 
dog and spending time with my family.      

Oh and I REALLY love shopping. 

I like to get to know people and am looking forward to 
getting to know you. 

How I hope we can work together: 

I will treat you with respect and hope you will do the 
same to me. I will be honest with you and admit when I 
have made a mistake. I will let you know if I can’t make 
an appointment and ask that you do the same for me. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Work programme 2019

Date of meeting Proposed reports Additional Information 

23rd May 2019 Deputy Regional School Commissioner – what is the 
role/scope of the RSC? How can/is the RSC supporting 
school improvement in Gloucestershire?

Care Leaver Offer

7 June 2019 Ofsted Improvement Letter (from 30 April/1 May 2019 
Monitoring Visit)
Improvement Board Update 
Third Party Review (LGA & People Too) Report 
Performance Monitoring Report 
Revenue Monitoring Report
Quality Assurance Framework: progress Update Report

This is the final Ofsted monitoring visit ahead of the full 
Ofsted Inspection.

Is the council inspection ready?
Is there any additional activity that the committee feels it 
should undertake, eg. meet with the Independent Chair of 
the Improvement Board?

18th July 2019 Children’s Safeguarding – New Governance arrangements 
and GSCB Annual Report 2018/19
This item to also cover FGM and forced marriage.

Children and Young People and the Criminal Justice System 
This item will include an update on the work/impact of the 
Children First initiative; an update on the protocol for 
transferring children and young people from police custody to 
the local authority; and feedback from the visit to 
Gloucestershire by HMIP as part of their thematic inspection 
on youth resettlement.

NB. The Improvement Board will not have met since the 
committee meeting on 7 June 2019, therefore the 
improvement journey reports are not included on the 
agenda. 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Work programme 2019

12th September 2019 Early Help – members to identify the 
purpose/scope/outcomes of the item. Would it be helpful to 
include ACEs?

    
Improvement Board Update 
Performance Monitoring Report 
Revenue Monitoring Report
Quality Assurance Framework: progress Update Report

28th November 2019
Youth Support Services – members to identify the 
purpose/scope/outcomes of the item.

Improvement Board Update 
Performance Monitoring Report 
Revenue Monitoring Report
Quality Assurance Framework: progress Update Report

Items for scheduling/defining

Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People– As discussed at the March 2019 committee meeting the Ambassadors are 
designing a workshop for elected members to inform on their work. This could be opened up to all elected members.

School Exclusions – the Timpson Review of School Exclusions has now been published. Committee members may wish to lead on a 
workshop (open to all members of council) to discuss what this means for Gloucestershire’s Schools.

Children and Young People Mental Health Services - The review of scrutiny picked up the ‘gap’ on the scrutiny of Children’s Health Services 
and this issue is now included in the remit of the reconstituted Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). 
However, at the member workshop on Friday 12 April 2019 it was agreed to continue these annual workshops to enable Children and Families 
Scrutiny members (and all members of council) to engage with children’s mental health. 

Transitions Children to Adults – Under the new scrutiny structure this should be a joint piece of work with the Adult Social Care and 
Communities OSC. If members wanted to include health services then this work should also include the HOSC. 
Members to define the scope of this work.

P
age 22



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Work programme 2019

Update on ACE’s Meeting – a seminar was held on 20 March 2019. An update report was also received by the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) on 19 March 2019 which is available to all committee members. As suggested above this issue could complement the 
item on Early Help (which needs to be scoped).

Capital Monitoring – when would members wish to receive an update?

High Needs – members to identify the purpose/scope/outcomes of the item.

Effectiveness of the Pupil Premium - members to identify the purpose/scope/outcomes of the item. In a previous council the committee 
invited schools to attend and discuss how they use the pupil premium. If this is an approach that the committee wishes to take then it would be 
best undertaken through an additional meeting. 

Sufficiency Strategy - members to identify the purpose/scope//outcomes of the item.

First 1000 days of life – the committee has been sent the link to the Health and Social Care Report (published 26 February 2019) on this 
matter. The government usually has 60 days to respond to committee reports. Members may wish to consider a workshop with the aim of 
mapping out what is in place to support the first 1000 days of life in Gloucestershire. This should be a joint exercise with the HOSC and ASC 
and Communities Committee.

The Court System – Members to identify the purpose/scope/outcomes of the meeting. 

Performance data – what sources are available to committee members? How to triangulate data? How to get the most out of available data? A 
broader understanding of the available data and how to interpret it could support/inform members’ lines of questioning.
Do members want to explore these questions through a workshop?

Serious case reviews – how is the learning from these reviews actioned. Are they making a difference to/informing the quality of practice? It 
may be that a workshop is the best approach to explore this matter.

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Care Leavers
	Report extract Care Leavers Audit committee
	Review Report of Internal Audit on Care Leavers May 19
	Care Leavers Action Plan to address the internal audit
	My One Page Profile - Kat

	6 Work Programme

